RECEIVED

12-26-2018

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

App. No. 2017AP1206-CR Milwaukee County Circuit Court Case No. 2015CF3109

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

EMMANUEL EARL TRAMMELL,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

URSZULA TEMPSKA State Bar No. 1041496 Law Office of U. Tempska P.O. Box 11213 Shorewood, WI 53211 414-640-5542 U_tempska@yahoo.com Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

INTRODUCTION

Emmanuel Earl Trammell ("Trammell") asks the Supreme Court of Wisconsin, pursuant to Wis. Stat. Sections 808.10, 809.62, and 751.06 to review his convictions and the decision upholding such convictions issued by the Court of Appeals, District I, in *State v. Emmanuel Earl Trammell,* Appeal No. 2017AP1206-CR, on May 8, 2018 ("Decision").

ISSUES PRESENTED

I. WHETHER AVILA'S UPHOLDING OF J.I.140 MAY STAND.

This issue was not properly before the Court of Appeals.

II. WHETHER J.I.140 IS CONSTITUTIONALLY CRIPPLED FOR BEING BLIGHTED BY MULTIPLE COMPOUNDING BURDEN-REDUCING ERRORS, *AND* CONFUSING AND MIS-DIRECTING THE JURY.

This issue was not properly before the Court of Appeals.

III. WHETHER SECTION 805.13(3) BARS DEFENDANTS FROM RAISING, POST-INSTRUCTIONS-CONFERENCE, INSTRUCTIONAL OBJECTIONS NOT RAISED DURING SUCH CONFERENCE, IF THE OBJECTIONS WERE NOT KNOWABLE AT THE TIME OF THE CONFERENCE.

The Court of Appeals answered: yes.

IV. WHETHER DISCRETIONARY REVERSAL UNDER SECTION 705.06 OR COMMON LAW IS WARRANTED.

This issue was not before the Court of Appeals.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Trammell was charged with one count each of armed robbery of a vehicle and operating a vehicle without owner's consent. The underlying Incident occurred in July 2015, at a Milwaukee food store. (1:1).

T.R. reported that he came to the store in his mother's car and walked inside, leaving his girlfriend in the car. Inside, T.R. was approached Trammell, whom T.R. knew and later identified. Trammell asked what money and property T.R. had on him, reached for T.R.'s phone, but only took coins from T.R.'s hand. When leaving the store, Trammell asked whose car T.R. was driving. T.R. told Trammell not to take the car "because it belonged to [T.R.'s] mother." Trammell walked to the driver's side. T.R. followed. Trammell displayed a firearm, pointed it at T.R., and said: "back off." T.R. complied and got his girlfriend out of the car. Trammell got in and drove off. T.R. called his mother and the police. (1:1-2).¹

The car was recovered after police pursuit, stopped remotely by OnStar technology. The driver, Gabarie Silas, was identified as someone present during the Incident. (1:2).²

At trial, defense counsel argued that Trammell had taken the car as collateral, to leverage repayment of a debt

¹ The girlfriend reported that Trammell walked into the store after T.R. and soon Trammel walked out, followed by T.R. Then Trammell got behind the wheel of the car and drove away, although T.R. said the car was T.R.'s mother's. (1:2).

² Charging papers alleged that Silas told the police *inter alia* that he saw Trammell and T.R. "intensely discussing" inside the store, then saw Trammell taking money from T.R. and patting him down. Silas reported that after the Incident he got T.R.'s car from Trammell and that during the police chase he was on the phone with T.R.'s friends. (1:3).

related to Trammell's missing weapon. There had been no "armed robbery," because there was no "intent to steal," as Trammell never intended *permanently* to keep the car: ³

And you're going to hear from the mouths of the State's own witnesses, [T.R.] and Silas, that there was a thing between my client and [T.R.] . . . That it was a debt between them. . . . And they were trying to resolve it. . . .

Mr. Silas will tell you . . . that he was kind of watching this. And as far as he could tell, they were just trying to work out an agreement or work out their disagreement.

(53:54-5).

Considerable evidence supported the collateral theory.

T.R. testified that: he had known that Trammell believed that T.R. owed him a gun because "word on the street was I took it . . . from him;" he knew Trammell wanted the gun back; the store meeting was accidental; Trammel asked about the gun and patted his pockets, but did not take his phone, since he wanted the gun back; after taking some change, Trammell asked about the car and walked to it, and T.R. followed. (54:13-15). ⁴

Silas testified that Trammell and T.R. were discussing in the store and T.R. "gave [Trammell] some money. But then

³ Armed robbery is committed by someone who, "with intent to steal, takes property from the person or presence of the owner ... by use or threat of use of a dangerous weapon[.]" See WIS. STAT. § 943.32(2). "'Intent to steal' means that the defendant ... intended to deprive the owner permanently of possession of the property." WIS JI—CRIMINAL 1480.

⁴ T.R. denied taking Trammell's gun, but agreed that Trammell had it in his head that T.R. had in fact taken the gun. (54:14). An officer testified that security camera footage showed T.R. and the male who reached for his pocket "look[ing] like they were talking back and forth the whole time." (53:65).

I guess it wasn't enough.... Then we had walked outside Then [Trammell] was already in T.R.'s car," (54:48-49); "T.R. told [Trammell] . . . I'm going to call you. This my momma car. I'm going to call you when I have the rest of your money," (54:49, 60); Silas thought the Incident "was about the collateral," (54:49); "word on the street" was that "T.R. owed [Trammell] for a gun but he never paid him," id.; at the store, T.R. and Trammell were "discussing their differences about what was going on," (54:56); post-Incident Trammell talked to Silas about "T.R. calling [Trammell]," indicating he planned to discuss the car with T.R., (54:62); when handing the car to Silas, Trammell promised to call Silas once he heard from T.R., (54:63); Silas gathered that Trammell and T.R. were going to negotiate and work things out, and Trammell would return the car, id.; while being chased in T.R.'s car, Silas got a call from T.R.'s associates and talked "about returning the car," (54:68); when taking T.R.'s car from Trammell, Silas believed that Trammell and T.R. would be working out a deal involving money or the car's return, (54:69).⁵

At the close of evidence the pattern Wis. JI— CRIMINAL 140 (hereafter "J.I.140") was given, which closed by telling jurors "not to search for doubt," but to "search for the truth." (55:3-5).

Defense counsel closed by arguing the collateral theory *and* asking the jurors to search for the truth: "... nothing is more important today. . . [than] *finding the truth*. *Your job, in your jury instructions, search for the truth.* Nothing is more important than right now. . . . " (emphasis added). (55:13).

⁵ Silas was also charged in connection with the Incident. He testified after accepting a plea deal in exchange for testimony.

The prosecutor's rebuttal closing *again* told the jurors not to consider doubt, but to "search for the truth:"

Beyond a reasonable doubt. *My favorite part of that instruction* in that it strikes to the heart of everything we're here for You *are not to search for doubt, you are to search for the truth.*

And the truth here is that [Trammell] robbed [T.R.] of the [car] at gunpoint. . . .

(55:30-31) (emphasis added).⁶

The court closed with its own truth-focusing admonitions: "Let the verdicts speak the truth whatever the truth might be," (55:32); and "Justice through trial by jury depends upon the willingness . . . of each of you to seek the truth as to the facts from the evidence" (55:33) (emphasis added). These were almost the last words the jury heard before deliberating and rendering "guilty" verdicts. (23).⁷

Post-sentencing, two behavioral-science research studies, published in academic journals, reported a

⁶ The jury instructions given in this case were hammered out in a jury instructions conference and given with both parties' agreement and no objections. At the time of Trammell's trial, in April 2016, the two studies supporting Trammell's claims here were not yet published. (App. 7-35 and App. 36-49). The two studies empirically demonstrate that the Dual Directives, if included in the jury instruction addressing the State's burden of proof, actually reduce the State's burden and double the conviction rates (compared to jury instructions on the State's burden which do not contain the Dual Directives. Because the results and conclusions of the studies were first announced by publication in 2017, Trammell cannot claim that defense counsel's failure to object to the instructions was ineffective assistance of counsel. Trammell may not argue that defense counsel reasonably should have known the import of the studies and objected on that ground to the Dual Directives language prior to the publication of the studies.

⁷ Trammell was sentenced to 12 years initial confinement and 8 years extended supervision. (33).

statistically-significant increase in conviction rates when the directives closing J.I.140 were included in definitions of the prosecution's burden: "You are not to search for doubt. You are to search for the truth." (hereafter "Dual Directives") ⁸

The first study (App. 7-35) demonstrated that mock jurors first instructed only with plain "reasonable doubt" verbiage, but ultimately given the Dual Directives, convicted at much higher rates than mock jurors who received a reasonable-doubt instruction *without* the Dual Directives. (App. 34-35). The second study (App. 36-49) replicated those results, additionally discovering this cognitive link: the Dual Directives cause jurors to be "nearly twice as likely to mistakenly believe that they could convict . . . even if they had a reasonable doubt about guilt." (App. 49).

Post-conviction Trammell invoked the two studies to argue that reliance on J.I.140 violated due process by measurably reducing the prosecution's burden to something like "preponderance of evidence;" ⁹ and that J.I.140 misstated the law and confused the jurors about their task; and that the resulting miscarriage of justice and "plain error" warranted remedy even when un-objected-to.

⁸ The same language here dubbed the "Dual Directives" was, in the courts below, referred to as the "truth language" or "search for the truth language." To clarify, that language is: "You are not to search for doubt. You are to search for the truth." Such language is part of the pattern J.I.140 given in this case and is the *one variable* whose effects on the jury are empirically tested in the studies addressed in this Brief, as explained throughout.

⁹ Trammell cited the detailed findings of the two studies as support for the latest claim.

District I rejected Trammell's J.I.140 claim as contrary to *State v. Avila*, 192 Wis.2d 870, 532 N.W.2d 423 (1995). (App. 3-4).¹⁰

District I ruled that Trammell had waived his J.I.140 claim by not raising it at an instruction conference, holding that Section 805.13(3) bars defendants from raising *all* errors not raised during the instruction conference, including errors like Trammel's. (App. 6.)

Trammell seeks a science-informed review of J.I.140, of *Avila's* analysis and conclusions regarding J.I.140, and of his convictions stemming from J.I.140. He asserts that the two studies' findings, as well as additional authorities, *all* compel the conclusion that J.I.140 in fact mis-defines and reduces the prosecution's burden of proof/persuasion, to be constitutionally deficient and cause of structural error; and mis-directs and confuses jurors; and that his convictions are therefore constitutionally structurally invalid.

Trammell asks this Court to withdraw J.I.140 for being constitutionally invalid; to guide Wisconsin on correctly instructing criminal juries about the prosecution's dueprocess-mandated burden; and to reverse his convictions, because his jury was prevented from making the constitutionally-mandated analysis, determinations, and/or verdicts by J.I.140.

Trammell also seeks review of District I's absurdly broad and flawed interpretation of Section 805.13(3).

¹⁰ District I noted that "even if [it] agreed with this sentiment [that *Avila* should be overruled], [it] cannot act upon it," because only this Court could "overrule, modify or withdraw language from a previous supreme court case." Id. at P17 (citing to *Cook v. Cook*, 208 Wis. 2d 166, 189, 560 N.W.2d 246 (1997)) (App. 4).

Lastly, Trammell seeks this Court's discretionary reversal under Section 751.06.

ARGUMENT

I. AVILA'S UPHOLDING OF J.I.140 MAY NOT STAND.

A. *AVILA'S* J.I.140 DETERMINATIONS AND HOLDING ARE REFUTED BY RELIABLE EMPIRICAL EVIDENCE FROM TWO SCIENTIFIC STUDIES.

Fundamental due process requires that defendants' guilt in criminal prosecutions be proven by the high burden of proof/persuasion: "beyond a reasonable doubt." See *In Re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358 (1970).

The U.S. Supreme Court clarified that this prosecutorial burden is very high and serves "central purposes" in this Nation's justice system:

The standard of proof beyond a reasonable doubt, said the [Winship] Court, "plays a vital role in the American scheme of criminal procedure," because it operates to give "concrete substance" to the presumption of innocence to ensure against unjust convictions, and to reduce the risk of factual error in a criminal proceeding. ... by impressing upon the factfinder the need to reach a subjective state of near certitude of the guilt of the accused, the standard symbolizes the significance that our society attaches to the criminal sanction and thus to liberty itself

The constitutional standard recognized in the Winship case was expressly phrased as one that protects an accused against a conviction except on "proof beyond a reasonable doubt" ... we have never departed from this definition of the rule or from the Winship understanding of the central purposes it serves. ... In short, Winship presupposes as an essential of the due process guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment that no person shall be made to suffer the onus of a criminal conviction except upon sufficient proof—defined as evidence necessary to convince a trier of fact beyond a reasonable doubt of the existence of every element of the offense.

Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 315-16, 99 S.Ct. 2781 (1979) (superseded on other grounds by 28 U.S.C. § 2254(d)) (internal citations omitted) (emphasis added).

To secure a valid conviction, the prosecution must present sufficient evidence of every element to create in every juror's mind "a subjective state of near certitude of the guilt of the accused." Id. at 315.

Avila upheld J.I.140 upon concluding that "it is not reasonably likely that the jury understood [J.I.140] to allow conviction based on proof below the *Winship* reasonable doubt standard." *Avila*, 192 Wis.2d at 889.

Avila's determination and holding are refuted by reliable empirical findings and conclusions from two scientific studies.¹¹ This evidence shows that the Dual Directives verbiage in fact communicates to jurors – contrary to *Winship* -- that they may vote "guilty" even when reasonable doubt persist, producing markedly more "guilty" votes than an instruction without the Dual Directives.¹²

 $^{^{11}\}mbox{The}$ publication of these studies post-dates Trammell's convictions.

 $^{^{12}}$ It bears repeating that in Trammell's trial, the Dual Directives commanded the jurors: (1) "not to search for doubt," but instead (2) "to search for the truth." Subsequently, trial counsel, the prosecutor, and the court *all* emphatically restated these commands to the jurors. (55:3031; 55:32-33).

The Studies demonstrate that J.I.140 actually misdefines the prosecution's burden of proof/persuasion mandated by *Winshi*p, reducing it. 13

This actual standard-reducing effect of J.I.140 is first demonstrated by the study jointly designed, executed, and published by Michael Cicchini, J.D., CPA, and Professor, Chair of Psychology, and Director of the Law & Justice Program at Beloit College, Dr. Lawrence T. White: *Truth or Doubt? An Empirical Test of Criminal Jury Instructions*, 50 U. Richmond L. Rev. 1139 (2016) (App. 7-35). ("First Study").

The First Study is a controlled experiment to test the actual impact of the Dual Directives on jurors' decisionmaking when rendering their verdicts. The experiment demonstrates that mock jurors who receive the Dual Directives convict at a *significantly* higher rate than jurors who receive "reasonable doubt" jury instructions *not* containing the Dual Directives. The conviction rate of jurors who received the Dual Directives was nearly *double* that of the group that received a "beyond reasonable doubt" instruction without the Dual Directives, and was statistically *identical* to that of the group that received *no* "reasonable doubt" instruction whatsoever. (App. 36-49).

With the large sample size and the detected large difference in conviction rates, the First Study allows the scientists to conclude with more than 97 percent certainty—because of the obtained *p*-values of 0.023 and 0.028—that they did not commit a "Type I error." This translates into a

¹³ To clarify: the evidence is found in the results of two studies published after Trammell's conviction, mentioned supra, and discussed in detail infra. (App. 7-35 and App. 36-49).

more than 97 percent certainty (1-p) that the authors did not obtain a "false positive" when testing their hypotheses about how the inclusion of the Dual Directives in a jury instruction on "beyond reasonable doubt" *in fact* impacts jurors' understanding of "reasonable doubt," its application, and the resulting conviction rates. (App. 22-24, passim). ¹⁴

The standard-reducing effect of the Dual Directives was then *again empirically demonstrated* by Cicchini and White's follow-up replication study, which tested (and confirmed) the reliability of their original findings in the First Study. Michael D. Cicchini & Lawrence T. White, *Testing the Impact of Criminal Jury Instructions on Verdicts: A Conceptual Replication*, 117 Columbia L. Rev. Online 22 (2017) (App. 36-49) ("Second Study").¹⁵

¹⁴ The statistical significance of the First Study's findings, and the study's limitations, are fully explained in that Study. (App. 7-35). Trammell respectfully refers this Court to the entire First Study for its complete description of the experiment's design and methodologies, its findings, and their implications. But the scientific robustness of the First Study is also explained in the Decision Re Motion for Reconsideration of Decision Modifying Burden of Proof Jury Instruction, entered on August 10, 2017, by the Honorable Steven G. Bauer, Circuit Court Judge for Dodge County Circuit Court, in Case No. 16CF196. ("Judge Bauer's Decision") See Appendix of Defendant-Appellant, filed in Court of Appeals, pp. 48-60. Trammell refers to Judge Bauer's Decision for its unique -- because legally-informed and scientifically-correct -- lucid explanation of the scientific validity of the First Study and its implications for criminal trials. Trammell does not rely on Judge Bauer's Decision as a binding or persuasive authority, but offers his uniquely informed remarks for the State's and the Court's consideration because Judge Bauer had received graduate education in statistics as well as legal training.

¹⁵ "Replication," or reproducibility, is a key principle of the scientific method, and a key method for confirming the validity of certain findings, because the same/similar findings observed multiple times in differing conditions are known to be more reliable and valid than findings not "replicated" by repeated observation. See Stefan Schmidt, *Shall We Really Do It Again? The Powerful Concept of Replication Is*

The Second Study *again* finds a statistically significant difference between the lower conviction rates of mock jurors instructed on "reasonable doubt" *without the Dual Directives* vs. the higher conviction rates of jurors who were instructed about "reasonable doubt" *with the Dual Directives language*. (App. 37, 44-47, 49).

Moreover, the Second Study identifies a cognitive link between the Dual Directives and increased conviction rates: that jurors who received the Dual Directives were actually nearly *twice* as likely (p = 0.01) to indicate, in their response to a post-verdict question, that "[*e*]ven if I have a reasonable doubt about the defendant's guilt, I may still convict the defendant[.]" (emphasis added). Furthermore, jurors who held this legally-erroneous belief, regardless of what instructions they received, actually convicted at a rate 2-1/2 times higher (p < .001) than jurors who correctly understood the burden of proof (as requiring acquittal whenever reasonable doubt lingers). (App. 47-48).

Jointly, the Two Studies supply reliable scientific evidence that the Dual Directives, when included in the instruction defining the prosecution's burden, *in fact* have these multiple measurable effects on jurors:

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