RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 01-28-2019

IN SUPREME COURT CHARGE OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2017AP1206-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

EMMANUEL EARL TRAMMELL,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS, DISTRICT I, AFFIRMING AN ORDER OF THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE JEFFREY A. WAGNER, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

TIFFANY M. WINTER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1065853

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

Trammell cannot meet that burden. The "evidence" which he relies upon is not the product of reliable principles and methods. The studies have not been subject to peer review⁷ and have only been published in law review articles. And a review of the studies reveals that the conclusions drawn therefrom are not reliable.

a. The University of Richmond Law Review article and study.

The University of Richmond Law Review article, *Truth* or *Doubt? An Empirical Test of Criminal Jury Instructions*, contends that "tacking on" the direction to search for truth rather than doubt is confusing to jurors. Cicchini & White, 50 U. of Rich. L. Rev. at 1143–45. The Richmond study,

⁷ To the extent it has, it has been rejected. In 2016, after the publication of the Richmond Law Review article, the Wisconsin Criminal Jury Instructions Committee, "received several inquiries about the phrase 'you are to search for the truth,' some based on" the article and study. See note 5 to Wis. JI–Criminal 140 (2017). The committee noted that it gave those inquires "careful consideration" before deciding not to change the text of the instruction. Thus, the results of the Richmond study have been rejected by the legal community. And the second study, the Columbia study, adds nothing of value.

conducted for the purpose of supporting the premise of the article, is flawed for several reasons.

First, Cicchini is not a neutral "scientist." He is a defense lawyer who is searching for evidence to back his contention that an instruction that urges jurors to search for truth will lead to more convictions than an instruction that urges jurors to search for doubt. Cicchini & White, 50 U. of Rich. L. Rev. at 1150. This initial bias likely affected both the way the study was conducted and the way the results were construed.

Second, the study—an online experiment—lacked sufficient controls. Cicchini & White, 50 U. of Rich. L. Rev. at 1150–51. The participants were recruited from Amazon Mechanical Turk. Cicchini & White, 50 U. of Rich. L. Rev. at 1150. Wikipedia describes Amazon Mechanical Turk as a crowdsourcing Internet marketplace where employers are able to post jobs involving human intelligence tasks. See Amazon Mechanical Turk, Wikipedia, https://en.wikipedia.or g/wiki/Amazon_Mechanical_Turk#socialscienceexperiment (last visited January 10, 2019). Prospective "Workers" can browse among the jobs posted and take a job they select in return for a monetary payment. *Id.* Amazon Mechanical Turk "offers access to a virtual community of Workers." See Amazon MechanicalTurk, https://www.mturk.com/product-details (last visited January 10, 2019).

The online participants were asked to read the materials, which described the evidence in a hypothetical case, and render an individual verdict of guilty or not guilty. Cicchini & White, 50 U. of Rich. L. Rev. at 1151–52. Thus, the researchers necessarily had to assume that the virtual community of participants did—and understood—what they were asked to do. That is not a sufficiently controlled study. There is no way of knowing if the participants read the materials or how seriously they took the task. Thus, contrary

to Trammell's contention, this study does not exhibit the hallmarks of reliability. (See Trammell's Br. 14.)

Third, the participants were not randomly drawn from a fair cross-section of the community. Although this Internet marketplace may be capable of recruiting a diverse sample, this limited self-selection is not a random sampling, which is the foundation of valid empirical research, as well as fair and impartial juries. The participants were not screened for bias or otherwise admonished to try their best to provide unbiased answers. Cicchini & White, 50 U. of Rich. L. Rev. at 1164. The only participant requirement was that the participants had to be adult citizens of the United States. Cicchini & White, 50 U. of Rich. L. Rev. at 1151. Thus, unlike real jurors that are subjected to voir dire, it is possible that participants in the Richmond study had preconceived ideas that prevented them from fairly and impartially considering the facts of the scenario that was presented.

Trammell asserts, relying on three other journal articles (one authored by White), that the reliability of the study is ensured because the study used mock jurors. (Trammell's Br. 14–15.) Trammell does not explain why that is so. Even if that were true, which the State doubts, the participants did not act as mock jurors in the traditional sense. The participants were not subject to screening, they did not deliberate, and they were not required to reach a unanimous verdict. The study may label its participants as "mock jurors" but that is a misnomer.

Fourth, the article provides little information about the facts from the hypothetical case that the participants were asked to consider. The article discloses only that the defendant was alleged to have touched a teenage girl's buttocks over her clothing for the purpose of sexual arousal or gratification. Cicchini & White, 50 U. of Rich. L. Rev. at 1151. The "evidence" presented to the participants—a "625-word

synopsis of court testimony" of the child, her mother, and the defendant—is not included in the article. *Id*. (emphasis added).

This scenario readily lends itself to preconceived notions about sexual assault. Undoubtedly, there are some in contemporary American society who view the act of touching a female outside her clothing as falling somewhere on a range between harmless and offensive, but not criminal. The study methodology does not account for participants who may have shared this attitude.

Furthermore, in situations where the word of one person is pitted against the word of another person, the credibility of the witnesses is critical in arriving at a just result. Yet, those who chose to participate in the study had no means of assessing the credibility of either the victim or the defendant from the brief synopsis of their testimony on a printed page. "The credibility of a witness is determined by more than a witness's words." State v. Turner, 186 Wis. 2d 277, 285, 521 N.W.2d 148 (Ct. App. 1994). "Tonal quality, volume and speech patterns all give clues to whether a witness is telling the truth." Id. Thus, it is critical for each juror, whether real or mock, to hear the testimony from each witness and relate that testimony to the witness's demeanor. See id. See also, State v. Owens, 148 Wis. 2d 922, 929-30, 436 N.W.2d 869 (1989) (noting that the trier of fact assesses credibility through things such as demeanor and body language of the witness, the words used, nuances in the questions and answers as indicated by the emphasis, volume, and intonations of the speakers).

While the article acknowledges that the results could be different in a case where there is more evidence of guilt and if the evidence was presented in a different manner, Cicchini & White, 50 U. of Rich. L. Rev. at 1160–62, it fails to acknowledge the seriousness of this flaw.

Finally, the authors discuss "conviction rate[s]" based upon the conclusions of *individual* participants. Cicchini & White, 50 U. of Rich. L. Rev. at 1157. The participants were not assigned to juries: there was no group deliberation, there was no unanimous verdict. There is no valid way to extract a "conviction rate" from this study.

The authors recognize these flaws and others, but they do not take them seriously. Cicchini & White, 50 U. of Rich. L. Rev. at 1159–65. The authors suggest that trials are inherently unreliable, so the research need not be held to a higher standard. *Id.* The authors' cavalier dismissal of serious foundational flaws is a large red flag regarding the reliability of the research and conclusions.

And the stakes are high: any flaw in a social science study suggesting that Wis. JI–Criminal 140 is invalid deserves serious attention. If that instruction inaccurately states the law, nearly every criminal trial conviction obtained since 1962 (and some before) will hang in the balance.

Trammell's proffered evidence is unreliable.

b. The Columbia Law Review article and study.

The Columbia Law Review article and study suffer from the same methodological problems. In *Testing the Impact of Criminal Jury Instructions on Verdicts: A Conceptual Replication*, the authors admit that some participants rendered their decisions in less than three minutes. Cicchini & White, 117 Colum. L. Rev. Online at *28. Although the authors discarded those results, the haste of some participants raises questions about the other participants and how much attention they paid to the project. How many simply provided some answer, regardless of what it was, in order to get their money?

The fact scenario of the Columbia study was similar to the Richmond study. It was another hypothetical case that pitted the credibility of the victim against the credibility of the defendant based on a brief, written synopsis of their testimony. Cicchini & White, 117 Colum. L. Rev. Online at *28–29. The claim was that the defendant "sexually touch[ed]" an adult woman with whom he interacted at a party, without her consent. *Id.* at *28.

The exact nature of the touching is not known. The article does not state what part of the woman's body was touched, or for how long, or in what manner, or for what purpose. Nor does the article detail the kind of interaction that the man and the woman were having. However, both persons were drinking, and the defendant also consumed other drugs. Cicchini & White, 117 Colum. L. Rev. Online at *29. One additional fact was that the defendant admitted he had not told the truth on a previous occasion. *Id.* at *29.

Again, participants were given a short *summary* of testimony of the victim and the defendant, but this time the participants were not provided with closing arguments. Cicchini & White, 117 Colum. L. Rev. Online at *28–29. Undoubtedly, some people would never convict a person of a crime for touching someone at a party where both persons were drinking and engaging in some kind of consensual interaction with each other. Without any mock voir dire, it is not known how many of these people participated in the study.

As in the Richmond study, less than one-third of the participants in the Columbia study determined that the defendant was guilty. Cicchini & White, 117 Colum. L. Rev. Online at *30–31. The authors think that it is significant that 28 percent of the participants who were instructed to look for truth instead of doubt agreed with the proposition that "[e]ven if I have a reasonable doubt about the defendant's guilt, I may

still convict the defendant if, in my search for the truth, the evidence shows the defendant is guilty." *Id.* at *30–32.

But agreement with this proposition does not necessarily mean, as the authors suppose, that these participants believed that they could convict the defendant even if they had a reasonable doubt about his guilt. That is so because participants were instructed that the initial presumption of the defendant's innocence "is not overcome unless from all the evidence in the case you are convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant is guilty." Cicchini & White, 117 Colum. L. Rev. Online at *30. Given this instruction, it is possible that the 28 percent of participants who agreed with the proposition were indicating, in accordance with the instruction, that if they started out with reasonable doubt about the defendant's guilt, they could convict him if the evidence they considered in their search for the truth overcame this doubt.

And it is entirely possible that many of the participants understood the proposition in this way. Indeed, 15 percent of those participants who were not instructed to look for truth, but who were instructed that the presumption of innocence could be overcome by the evidence, still agreed that they could convict the defendant if, in their search for the truth, the evidence showed that the defendant was guilty. Cicchini & White, 117 Colum. L. Rev. Online at *29, *32.

Thus, the new study adds nothing to the first study. And like the first study, the second is admittedly flawed. Cicchini & White, 117 Colum. L. Rev. Online at *34–35. The authors cannot reliably reach a conclusion that an instruction to look for truth instead of doubt misleads jurors about the burden of proof.

In sum, Trammell's "scientific evidence" does not pass *Daubert*'s gate-keeping test. It is unreliable, and this Court should not consider it.

D. Wisconsin's burden of proof instruction is not "constitutionally crippled."

Trammell now asserts that there are multiple flaws that "constitutionally cripple" Wis. JI–Criminal 140. (Trammell's Br. 26–37.) Trammell did not raise this issue in his petition for review and this Court should not address it. To the extent that it is a sub-issue of a raised issue, this Court should reject it.

Trammell picks out specific phrases in Wis. JI—Criminal 140 and argues that those phrases shift the burden to the defendant or impermissibly lower the State's burden. Trammell's piecemeal approach lacks force, given that this Court reviews challenged jury instructions as a whole. *Avila*, 192 Wis. 2d at 889. Nonetheless, the State will briefly address his assertions.

First, contrary to Trammell's assertion, the part of the instruction defining reasonable doubt as something that "would cause a person of ordinary prudence to pause or hesitate when called upon to act in the most important affairs of life" does not have a burden-reducing effect. (Trammell's Br. 26–28.) The Supreme Court agrees. See Victor, 511 U.S. at 20–21 (this language has been "repeatedly approved" by the Supreme Court as "giv[ing] a common sense benchmark for just how substantial such a doubt must be"). To that end, the Supreme Court has "never held that the concept of reasonable doubt is undefinable, or that trial courts should not, as a matter of course, provide a definition." *Id.* at 26 (Justice Kennedy, concurring).

Nor do *United States v. Jaramillo-Suarez*, 950 F.2d 1378 (9th Cir. 1991), and *People v. Johnson*, 9 Cal. Rptr. 3d

781 (2004), assist Trammell. In Jaramillio-Suarez, the court reviewed a jury instruction directing the jury that a conviction requires "evidence so convincing that an ordinary person would be willing to make the most important decisions in his or her own life on the basis of such evidence." Jaramillo-Suarez, 950 F.2d at 1386 (emphasis added). The Ninth Circuit deemed the language regarding a willingness to act to be problematic, remarking that it had previously made "clear that [it] preferred Holland's 'hesitate to act' formulation to an instruction" as opposed to an instruction "requiring proof 'such as you would be willing to act upon in the most important and vital matters relating to your own affairs." Id. (citing Holland v. United States, 348 U.S. 121, 140 (1954)).

In contrast, Wisconsin's instruction uses the permissible hesitation language: "would cause a person of ordinary prudence *to pause or hesitate* when called upon to act in the most important affairs of life." Wis. JI–Criminal 140 (emphasis added).

Johnson also involved a challenge to language that does not appear in Wisconsin's jury instruction. In Johnson, the appellate court was concerned with the trial court's amplification of the "concept of reasonable doubt" that included: "We take vacations; we get on airplanes. We do all these things because we have a belief beyond a reasonable doubt that we will be here tomorrow or we will be here in June, in my case, to go to Hawaii on a vacation." Johnson, 9 Cal. Rptr. 3d at 1170–72. Wisconsin's pattern instruction uses no such language, and the circuit court did not go off-script; it read the pattern instruction verbatim to the jury.8

⁸ Trammell also cites to additional "studies" (Trammell's Br. 28), but his argument is undeveloped. The State will not develop it for him, and this Court should decline to address it. *State v. Pettit*,

Next Trammell mentions three "flaws" in the instruction. First Trammell asserts that the directive to find the defendant not guilty if the evidence can be reconciled with a "reasonable hypothesis consistent with the defendant's innocence" reduces the State's burden or shifts the burden of proof to the defendant. (Trammell's Br. 28–29.) Trammell's argument—two bullet points—is undeveloped and this Court should decline to address it. *State v. Pettit*, 171 Wis. 2d 627, 646, 492 N.W.2d 633 (Ct. App. 1992). Moreover, this language has long been approved as an appropriate explanation of the reasonable doubt standard. *See, e.g., Hopt v. People*, 120 U.S. 430, 439 (1887).

Second, Trammell asserts that the language explaining that "[a] doubt which arises merely from sympathy or from fear to return a verdict of guilt is not a reasonable doubt," shifts the burden to the defense to refute unreasonable doubts. (Trammell's Br. 30.) It does not; the Supreme Court has approved of similar language. *See Victor*, 511 U.S. at 16.

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